No. 71447-3-I

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

MORRIS TALAGA,

Appellant.

## ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable James D. Cayce

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT** 

THOMAS M. KUMMEROW Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

###

#### A. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The trial court erred in allowing the State to admit prejudicial prior act evidence under ER 404(b).

#### B. ISSUE PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

Prior acts of a defendant are not admissible simply to prove he acted in conformity with a character trait. Prior acts may be admissible if relevant and they fall within one of the designated exceptions enumerated in ER 404(b). Here, the trial court admitted under ER 404(b) a photo Mr. Talaga took of himself as well as a copy of his Facebook page, ostensibly to counter his self-defense claim. Must this Court reverse Mr. Talaga's conviction where the photo and copy of the internet page were improper propensity evidence used solely to prove Mr. Talaga acted in conformity with a character trait, and the trial court's error was not harmless where the overwhelming prejudice of this evidence outweighed any limited probative value?

#### C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In August 2011, Morris Talaga was working security at Jimmy T's bar in Kent. 11/25/2013RP 37, 42. The clientele at Jimmy T's was described as "pretty aggressive." 11/25/2013RP 39. On August 27, 2011, Mr. Talaga began work at 9:00 p.m., but was allowed to leave

early because it was a quiet night. 11/19/2013RP 13; 11/25/2013RP 45-46.

Mr. Talaga remained at the bar, socializing and drinking.

11/25/2013RP 46. After some time had passed, Mr. Talaga and his friends went outside where they continued to socialize with other patrons in the parking lot. 11/25/2013RP 49. While in the parking lot, Mr. Talaga confronted two men who he observed looking into cars.

11/25/2013RP 50. One of these men was Allen Gooden, who went by his middle name, Montrae. 11/19/2013RP 58.

This confrontation escalated to the point where Mr. Talaga felt the need to defend himself. 11/25/2013RP 52-56. Mr. Talaga engaged one man, then turned his attention to Mr. Gooden, who was prone on the ground, but still moving, and according to Mr. Talaga, still a threat. 11/25/2013RP 56-59. Mr. Talaga struck Mr. Gooden several times with his fists and his feet, not waiting to determine of Mr. Gooden could get up and again become a threat. 11/25/2013RP 60. When he no longer deemed Mr. Gooden a threat, Mr. Talaga left and went home. 11/25/2013RP 74.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Mr. Talaga did not identify himself to these individuals as working for Jimmy T's security, but he was still wearing his "Jimmy T's Security" shirt. 11/19/2013RP 17; 11/25/2013RP 91.

Other witnesses in the parking lot saw a skirmish break out among several people, with shouting, then fisticuffs. 11/19/2013RP 15-18, 129. These people stated that Mr. Talaga was not the aggressor, but that he struck and kicked Mr. Gooden while he was on the ground. 11/19/2013RP 18-33, 129. Mr. Gooden was taken to Harborview Hospital suffering from a potential head injury. 11/19/2013RP 147-49. Mr. Gooden was subsequently diagnosed as suffering significant head trauma. 11/21/2013RP 31.

Kent Police were initially unable to identify Mr. Talaga, but were told his nickname was "Mo," and that he was Samoan 11/14/2013RP 16; 11/19/2013RP 96. Mr. Gooden's partner, Heather Sevaaetsai, began looking on the website, Facebook, for a Samoan with the nickname "Mo," and discovered Mr. Talaga's Facebook page. 11/19/2013RP 98. Ms. Sevaaetsai forwarded this information to the Kent Police. 11/19/2013RP 98. Based on this information and further investigation, the police arrested Mr. Talaga. 11/14/2013RP 41, 56.

Mr. Talaga was charged with one count of Assault in the First Degree. CP 13. Prior to trial, Mr. Talaga moved to exclude any other acts evidence under ER 404(b). CP 23. At a pretrial hearing, the court asked the prosecutor whether he had any prior act evidence he wished

to admit. 11/7/2013RP17. The prosecutor proffered two pieces of evidence that he averred fit within this rubric: a copy of Mr. Talaga's Facebook page and a copy of picture of Mr. Talaga from that page. 11/7/2013RP 18-19. Specifically, the prosecutor noted:

So it's the page that has writing on it, and it was a post by the defendant, who, I guess, goes by dose or Doze, DOZE, and the relevant portion that we think is relevant to this case, about half-way through it, it says, "Just leave me alone and we got no problems. Test me, you just might be on YouTube, the most epic knockout." And it is the State's position that this is Mr. Talaga indicating what he does to people who cross him. It is consistent with his actions that night while at the Jimmy T's. As the Court read the certification in the State's summary of the facts, I think, if there is anything classified as an epic knockout, it is what the State is alleging the defendant did to Mr. Gooden that night. So we believe it is relevant to his state of mind and to his intent, especially in a case like this, when defense counsel seems to be indicating their claim of self-defense. So that's why I think it is relevant.

11/7/2013RP 19-20 (emphasis added). Mr. Talaga immediately objected, noting that this rationale for admission was nothing more than admission of improper propensity evidence, and even if relevant, the evidence was substantially more prejudicial than probative.

11/7/2013RP 20. Further, Mr. Talaga sought a limiting instruction should the evidence be admitted. 11/7/2013RP 21. The court reserved ruling on the admissibility, but noted:

I think it will likely come in, but with a limiting instruction . . . But I do think, especially in self-defense, and the State of mind intent [sic], that's why it would come in.

. . .

The relevance aspect of it, I don't have a problem with. Most people don't say things like this unless they mean it, but that doesn't mean it is admissible just because it is relevant.

#### 11/7/2013RP 21.

The court later ruled the evidence was admissible at trial:

I do think it is relevant in terms of the state of mind and intent, and especially also because it is a claim of self-defense in this case, the jury will weigh how probative it is, ultimately, but I think it is admissible for those reasons, not to show he is a bad guy and he acted in conformity obviously, assuming there is a foundation.

11/12/2013RP 5-6. The two items were admitted at trial during the testimony of Ms. Sevaaetsai. 11/19/2013RP 116-17. CP Supp \_\_\_\_, Sub No. 122, Exhibit 15 (photo of Mr. Talaga), Exhibit 16 (snapshot of Mr. Talaga's Facebook profile page).

Pursuant to Mr. Talaga's request, the jury was instructed on lawful use of force. CP 48-50. The jury subsequently convicted Mr. Talaga as charged. CP 56.

#### D. ARGUMENT

THE EVIDENCE ADMITTED PURSUANT TO ER 404(b) PROVED NOTHING MORE THAN MR. TALAGA ACTED IN CONFORMITY HIS BOASTS WHICH VIOLATED HIS RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL

1. Evidence of a person's prior actions cannot be admitted to prove he acted in conformity with that trait.

ER 404(b) prohibits the use of evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith.<sup>2</sup> ER 404(b) was designed "to prevent the State from suggesting that a defendant is guilty because he or she is a criminal-type person who would be likely to commit the crime charged." *State v. Foxhoven*, 161 Wn.2d 168, 175, 163 P.3d 786 (2007). ER 404(b) is intended to prevent application by jurors of the common assumption "that 'since he did it once, he did it again." *State v. Bacotqarcia*, 59 Wn.App. 815, 822, 801 P.2d 993 (1990), *review denied*, 116 Wn.2d 1020 (1991). "This prohibition encompasses not only prior bad acts and unpopular behavior but *any* evidence offered to 'show the character of a person to prove the person acted in conformity' with that character at the time of a crime." *Foxhoven*, 161

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> "Evidence of a person's character or a trait of character is not admissible for the purpose of proving action in conformity therewith on a particular occasion." ER 404(a).

Wn.2d at 175. This rule is "not designed 'to deprive the State of relevant evidence necessary to establish an essential element of its case,' but rather to prevent the State from suggesting that a defendant is guilty because he or she is a criminal-type person who would be likely to commit the crime charged." *Id.* "In no case . . . may the evidence be admitted to prove the character of the accused in order to show that he acted in conformity therewith." *State v. Saltarelli*, 98 Wn.2d 358, 362, 655 P.2d 697 (1982).

The same evidence may be admissible for other purposes though, depending on its relevance and the balancing of the probative value and danger of unfair prejudice. *State v. Gresham*, 173 Wn.2d 405, 420, 269 P.3d 207 (2012). ER 404(b) includes a nonexclusive list of permissible purposes for admitting evidence of a person's other bad acts.<sup>3</sup>

The law resists criminal convictions based upon the jury's view that the defendant is a bad person or has a history of bad conduct.

Therefore, the trial court must begin with the presumption that evidence

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> "Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible for other purposes, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident." ER 404(b).

of prior misconduct is inadmissible. State v. DeVincentis, 150 Wn.2d 11, 17, 74 P.3d 119 (2003). However, when demonstrated, such evidence may be admissible for purposes "such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident." State v. Powell, 126 Wn.2d 244, 258, 893 P.2d 615 (1995), quoting ER 404(b). Before the trial court admits evidence of prior misconduct under ER 404(b), it must (1) find by a preponderance of the evidence that the prior misconduct occurred, (2) identify the purpose for admitting the evidence, (3) determine the relevance of the evidence to prove an element of the crime, and (4) weigh the probative value of the evidence against its prejudicial effect. State v. Fisher, 165 Wn.2d 727, 745, 202 P.3d 937 (2009); DeVincentis, 150 Wn.2d at 17. The latter factor inserts an ER 403 examination into an ER 404(b) analysis. "Unfair prejudice" is caused by evidence that is likely to arouse an emotional response rather than a rational decision. State v. Rice, 48 Wn.App. 7, 13, 737 P.2d 726 (1987).

The burden of demonstrating a proper purpose for admitting evidence of a person's prior bad acts is on the proponent of the evidence. *DeVincentis*, 150 Wn.2d at 17. The court must conduct this

analysis on the record. *State v. Sublett*, 156 Wn.App. 160, 195, 231 P.3d 231 (2010), *aff'd*, 176 Wn.2d 58 (2012).

Appellate courts review a trial court's evidentiary rulings for an abuse of discretion. "A trial court abuses its discretion when its decision is manifestly unreasonable or exercised on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons, i.e., if the court relies on unsupported facts, takes a view that no reasonable person would take, applies the wrong legal standard, or bases its ruling on an erroneous view of the law." *State v. Hudson,* 150 Wn.App. 646, 652, 208 P.3d 1236 (2009). In close cases "the scale should be tipped in favor of the defendant." *State v. Smith,* 106 Wn.2d 772, 776, 725 P.2d 951 (1986), *quoting State v. Bennett,* 36 Wn.App. 176, 180, 672 P.2d 772 (1983).

The question to be answered in applying ER 404(b) is not whether a defendant's prior bad acts are logically relevant-they are. Evidence that a criminal defendant is a "criminal type" is always relevant. But ER 404(b) reflects the long-standing policy to exclude most character evidence because

it is said to weigh too much with the jury and to so overpersuade them. . . . The overriding policy of excluding such evidence, despite its admitted probative value, is the practical experience that its disallowance tends to prevent confusion of issues, unfair surprise and undue prejudice."

Michelson v. United States, 335 U.S. 469, 476, 69 S.Ct. 213, 93 L.Ed. 168 (1948).

Thus, the question to be answered in applying ER 404(b) is whether the prior acts are relevant for a purpose other than showing propensity.

2. The character evidence admitted under ER 404(b) proved nothing more than that Mr. Talaga acted in conformity with that character trait.

Here, the trial court admitted the evidence under ER 404(b), to prove Mr. Talaga's state of mind and intent as it related to Mr. Talaga's claim of self defense. 11/12/2013RP 5-6. *See Saltarelli*, 98 Wn.2d at 364 ("That a prior act 'goes to intent' is not a 'magic [password] whose mere incantation will open wide the courtroom doors to whatever evidence may be offered in [its name].""), *citing United States v*. *Goodwin*, 492 F.2d 1141, 1155 (5th Cir.1974). The only way for this evidence to prove Mr. Talaga's state of mind or intent was by the jury believing his boasts on his Facebook page and in the accompanying photo. But this was nothing more than propensity evidence; proving Mr. Talaga acted in conformity with his claims in the disputed exhibits. Otherwise, the claims on the Facebook page were simply not relevant.

Further, the evidence was not admissible to counter Mr.

Talaga's self-defense claim as argued by the State in seeking its admission. In *State v. Thompson*, the defendant, who was charged with manslaughter, claimed self-defense. 47 Wn.App. 1, 733 P.2d 584 (1987). Three witnesses testified concerning threatening encounters with the defendant earlier in the evening of the crime. Under ER 404(b) the testimony was found to be relevant and admissible because it showed the absence of self-defense by demonstrating a "continuing course of provocative conduct." *Thompson*, 47 Wn.App. at 12.

Initially, the boastful claims allegedly made by Mr. Talaga were unreliable as they were completely unsubstantiated. In fact, there was no evidence that Mr. Talaga had assaulted anyone else on a prior occasion or that any of his boastful claims were even true.

Further, as opposed to the provocative conduct in *Thompson*, the evidence here was purely propensity evidence. Mr. Gooden did not know Mr. Talaga and there was nothing in the evidence which showed any pattern of assaultive conduct by Mr. Talaga similar to that in by the defendant in *Thompson*. *See State v. Wade*, 98 Wn.App. 328, 335, 989 P.2d 576 (1999) ("Use of prior acts to prove intent is generally based on propensity when the only commonality between the prior acts and

the charged act is the defendant. To use prior acts for a non-propensity based theory, there must be some similarity among the facts of the acts themselves."). Rather, this appeared to be an act based on the heat of the moment and not a matter of an intentional plan by Mr. Talaga to harm Mr. Gooden. As a result, the trial court erred in ruling the evidence was admissible under ER 404(b).

3. The error in admitting the photo and copy of the Facebook page were not harmless.

When a court erroneously admits prior bad acts evidence under ER 404(b), reversal is required where, "within reasonable probability, materially affected the outcome of the trial." *Gresham*, 173 Wn.2d at 433.

Once the evidence of Mr. Talaga's boasts is removed, the evidence at trial established Mr. Talaga assaulted Mr. Gooden, but the question remained for the jury whether it was self-defense. While the evidence was by no means insufficient for a jury to convict a defendant, there was a reasonable probability that absent this highly prejudicial evidence of Mr. Talaga's unsubstantiated boasting, the jury's verdict would have been materially affected and it very well may have found that his conduct was justified. Thus, it cannot be said that the erroneous

admission of the evidence of this evidence was a harmless error.

Gresham 173 Wn.2d at 433-34.

Further, Mr. Talaga's Facebook post became an important part of the State's closing argument. In referencing Mr. Talaga's posting, the prosecutor argued:

He also told you his intent to cause great bodily harm through his Facebook post . . . This is being offered and was admitted for one purpose and one purpose only: To show the defendant's intent. To show the way the defendant thinks . . . It makes sense what his intent is this night . . . The first thing you will notice, I think, is pretty obvious, that he has a very high opinion of himself... But as defense counsel says is buried in the middle, it's not buried in the middle, but it is in the middle, this quote from his profile, his information about himself, "Just leave me alone and we got no problems. Test me and you just might be on YouTube for the most epic knockout." And what happened that night? He was tested. He was tested, he said. He says Mr. Gooden said, "I will kick your ass." He was tested. We don't have the YouTube video of that, but we do have the video of the most epic knockout, all inflicted by the defendant. All inflicted on Mr. Gooden. All inflicted by – without any other kind of provocation other than, "I will kick your ass."

. . .

Did you ever see Mr. Gooden raise his fist? Did you ever see Mr. Gooden take a threatening posture? Did you ever see Mr. Gooden do anything except for get knocked down from behind and lie on the ground defenseless while the defendant beat him? No. The most epic knockout. The defendant talked about it in his own Facebook post.

11/26/2013RP 10-11 (emphasis added).

The prosecutor in his argument was stressing to the jury that Mr.

Talaga was acting in conformity with his boasts in the Facebook

posting, and pointing out for the jury just how violent a man Mr.

Talaga was. Thus, without the Facebook evidence, the jury could have reached a different verdict. Mr. Talaga is entitled to reversal of his conviction.

#### E. CONCLUSION

Mr. Talaga asks this Court to reverse his conviction and remand for a new trial.