11447-3

71447-3

NO. 71447-3-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

MORRIS TALAGA,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY THE HONORABLE JAMES CAYCE

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

NAMI KIM
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9650

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

In <u>State v. Israel</u>, a witness testified that the defendant had professed concern about dropping a note on which he had written directions to the site of a robbery after committing a home-invasion robbery; a note connected to the defendant had, in fact, been found at the robbery victim's home. 113 Wn. App. 243, 256-57, 54 P.3d 1218 (2002). This Court held that the defendant's admission

regarding his written note did not constitute an "other act" under ER 404(b):

The State was not attempting to prove that [the defendant] left notes at his robberies as a "signature" or that [he] was a robber generally, but that [he] dropped the particular note left at the scene of the Hwang robbery. . . [The witness'] testimony, therefore, was relevant not because it showed prior bad acts of [defendant], but because it made it more likely that the piece of paper [defendant] told [the witness] about was the same piece of paper that was found, with [defendant's] fingerprint on it, at Mira Hwang's house after the robbery. Thus, this evidence is not subject to analysis under ER 404(b).

<u>ld.</u> at 268 n.5.

As in <u>Israel</u>, Talaga's written words on his Facebook post did not constitute an "act" or the "a thing . . . being done" (such as a prior assault) invoked to argue that he was a violent person generally.

Rather, it was a declaration of his own intent and state of mind that made it more likely that his intent with Gooden was to deliver "an epic knockout," and less likely that his intent was to use only the amount of force necessary to protect himself.

Talaga attempts to bridge this definitional distinction by equating his statement of intent with evidence of an actual act of assault, arguing that the State had failed to substantiate that he had "assaulted anyone on a prior occasion," "that any of his boastful

claims were even true," or that had exhibited a "pattern of assaultive conduct." BOA 10-12. But Talaga misses the critical point: the State was not attempting to substantiate and admit evidence of *actual prior assaults*, which very well would have actually constituted "acts" requiring analysis under ER 404(b). The State was attempting to introduce a *statement of intent*. There was no requirement to prove that Talaga's "boastful claims were true" because proving a prior assault was not the objective; the point was to convey his self-professed state of mind, which is not an "act."

Not only was the statement not an "act," it did not even refer to an "act," like a prior assault or action; it was simply a declaration of intent. Cf. State v. Brockob, 159 Wn.2d 311, 348-49, 150 P.3d 59 (2006) (defendant's confession to previously buying drugs analyzed under ER 404(b)). It thus did not fall under the rubric of ER 404(b). Rather, it can more properly be considered an admission or statement of party opponent under ER 801(d)(2), and need only be

⁷ Nor was the "act" one of posting the threat to Facebook. The aspect that Talaga finds objectionable is not the act of posting, but the contents of the post, i.e., his own thoughts. Had the defendant simply told someone his intent to deliver an "epic knockout," his declaration would never be deemed subject to ER 404(b). It would simply qualify as an admission under ER 401 and 403.

analyzed for probative value relative to prejudice under ER 403 and relevance under ER 401.8

The trial court found that Talaga did in fact post the comment, and that it was not unduly prejudicial, satisfying both ER 801(d)(2) and ER 403. 8RP 14. The evidence was also relevant because it made it more likely that Talaga's intent at the time of the assault was to deliver an "epic knockout" rather than to defend himself, and to beat someone severely rather than limit his use of force to that necessary to effect a lawful purpose. It also made it less likely that his state of mind was fear, given his boastful willingness to render an "epic knockout," but rather a desire for revenge or punishment.

c. Talaga's Statement Of Intent And State Of Mind Did Not Constitute Propensity Evidence.

Even if this Court deems Talaga's statement an "other act" under ER 404(b), the statement did not constitute propensity evidence. It was properly admitted as a statement of intent and state of mind under ER 404(b).

Courts may admit ER 404(b) evidence "to prove the defendant's state of mind where the misconduct comes to bear on

⁸ Evidence is relevant if it has "any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." ER 401.

the defendant's mental state at the time of the alleged offense."

State v. Powell, 166 Wn.2d 73, 81, 206 P.3d 321 (2009). To admit evidence of prior bad acts, the trial court must: (1) find by a preponderance of the evidence that the acts occurred, (2) identify the purpose for which the evidence is admitted, (3) find that the evidence is related to that purpose, and (4) balance the probative value of the evidence against the prejudicial effect. State v.

Kilgore, 147 Wn.2d 288, 292, 5 P.3d 974 (2002).

"Rule 404(b) . . . provides that prior misconduct is not admissible to show that a defendant is a 'criminal type,' and is thus likely to have committed the crime for which he or she is presently charged." Lough, 125 Wn.2d at 853. The type of propensity argument forbidden by the court is "once a thief, always a thief." State v. Fisher, 165 Wn.2d 727, 744, 202 P.3d 937 (2009). However, while "[t]he purpose of ER 404(b) is to prohibit admission of evidence designed simply to prove bad character . . . it is not intended to deprive the state of relevant evidence necessary to establish an essential element of its case." Id. at 859.

Intent, a specifically enumerated basis for admission under ER 404(b), is defined as "the purpose or design with which the act is done" and the "design, resolve, or determination with which

[a] person acts . . . [a] state of mind in which a person seeks to accomplish a given result through a course of action." State v. Powell, 126 Wn.2d 244, 260-61, 893 P.2d 615 (1995) (quoting Black's Law Dictionary 810, 1014 (6th ed.1990)). Evidence of intent is relevant when the defendant has placed intent into controversy. Id. at 262.

A claim of self-defense negates the element of intent in an assault because it involves the lawful use of force and rebuts the "unlawful" element of assault; it thus requires the State to disprove lawful intent beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>State v. McCullum,</u> 98 Wn.2d 484, 490, 656 P.2d 1064 (1983); <u>State v. Acosta,</u> 101 Wn.2d 612, 615-16, 683 P.2d 1069 (1984).

A trial court may properly admit a defendant's own comments about his previous bad acts to prove his intent regarding the charged crime. Brockob, 159 Wn.2d at 348-49. In Brockob, the supreme court held that a defendant's confession to previously buying ephedrine for a methamphetamine manufacturer was properly admitted to establish his intent to aid in the crime of manufacturing. Id. The court held that because the issue of Brockob's intent "was a key component of the State's case," which

was largely circumstantial, "the statement was properly offered as evidence of intent rather than evidence of character." Id. at 349.

A trial court may also properly admit a defendant's own comments about his prior bad acts to reveal his state of mind.

Powell, 166 Wn.2d at 81 ("Courts may admit ER 404(b) evidence to prove the defendant's state of mind where the misconduct comes to bear on the defendant's mental state at the time of the alleged offense."). Powell cited State v. Lord as an example, noting that the trial court there had properly admitted Lord's confession to earlier ingesting marijuana and alcohol, because he admitted that when he did, "he becomes a different person and he loses control." Powell, 166 Wn.2d at 81 (quoting Lord, 117 Wn.2d 829, 872, 822 P.2d 177 (1991)). Lord held that "the evidence was admissible as an explanation for Lord's conduct, not to prove character" and thus pertained to his state of mind during the commission of the crime.

Here, Talaga's own statement that he would deliver "an epic knockout" if tested was properly admitted as evidence of his intent and state of mind. Talaga placed the issue of intent squarely into controversy when he claimed self-defense. The jury was instructed that the State had to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that he acted

with intent to inflict great bodily harm and that assault requires an "intentional touching . . . with unlawful force." CP 39, 42. The trial court also gave the jury the following instructions regarding self-defense:

The use of force upon or toward the person of another is lawful when used by a person who reasonably believes that he is about to be injured or in preventing or attempting to prevent an offense against the person, and when the force is not more than necessary.

The person using the force may employ such force and means as a reasonably prudent person would use under the same or similar conditions as they appeared to the person . . .

CP 48 (emphasis added).9

By claiming that he acted only to prevent physical danger to himself, Talaga put into play the issue of his intent, i.e., the "purpose or design with which the act is done" and the "design, resolve, or determination with which [a] person acts." His declaration that he would deliver "an epic knockout" if tested was

Necessary means that, under the circumstances as they reasonably appeared to the actor at the time, (1) no reasonably effective alternative to the use of force appeared to exist and (2) the amount of force used was reasonable to effect the lawful purpose intended.

CP 49.

⁹ The jury was also instructed that:

highly probative of the purpose or the design, resolve or determination with which he acted on the night in question. As in Brockob, intent was a "key component" of the State's case; Talaga's incriminating statements were "properly offered as evidence of intent rather than evidence of character." Brockob, 159 Wn.2d at 349.

Talaga not only placed into controversy the issue of his intent but also his state of mind in general, calling upon the jury to examine whether he reasonably believed he was about to be injured and used only the amount of force that reasonably appeared to him to be necessary to effect the lawful purpose intended. The boastful nature of his announcement on Facebook called into question any fear that he professed to have and the accuracy of his claim that he used tremendous force solely to ensure his own safety rather than execute an "epic knockout." His admissions were thus similar to those made by the defendant in Lord, whose acknowledgment that he lost control and became a "different person" when using drugs was "admissible as an explanation for Lord's conduct, not to prove character," and thus

pertained to his state of mind during the commission of the crime.

<u>Lord</u>, 117 Wn.2d at 872-73.¹⁰

Talaga's declaration to "knock out" anyone who "test[ed]" him was not propensity evidence, used to argue "once a criminal, always a criminal." The State clearly argued in closing argument that "[t]his is being offered and was admitted for one purpose and one purpose only: To show the defendant's intent." 10RP 10. Unless Talaga's declaration by itself had constituted a crime, and the post had been used to prove his intent to commit a similar crime, then there is no propensity argument to be made.

Talaga nonetheless cites to <u>State v. Thompson</u>, 47 Wn. App. 1, 753 P.2d 584 (1987), to argue that because the State showed no "pattern of assaultive conduct by Mr. Talaga similar to that in by [sic] the defendant in <u>Thompson</u>," Talaga's Facebook post was "purely propensity evidence." BOA 11. But <u>Thompson</u> is inapplicable. First, the trial court here specifically excluded

¹⁰ It was not established when Talaga's Facebook comments, which were printed out on November 20, 2011,were posted. Ex. 16. The uncertainty of the timing of the Facebook post is of no moment. As the supreme court noted in <u>State v. Brown</u>, "Rule 404(b) applies to evidence of other crimes or misconduct regardless whether they occurred *before or after* the conduct for which a defendant is currently charged." 132 Wn.2d 529, 576, 940 P.2d 546 (1997). In <u>Lord</u>, the timing of the defendant's marijuana use was not conclusively shown to coincide exactly with the date of the crime; the murder occurred on September 16, and the defendant stated he had last used drugs "approximately 3 weeks" prior to September 30. 116 Wn.2d at 845-46.

absence of self-defense as a basis for admission. 8RP 14.

Second, <u>Thompson</u> held that a "continuing course of provocative conduct" could be admitted as evidence of the absence of self-defense and res gestae. 47 Wn. App. at 12. Talaga's case, however, involved a verbalized announcement of intent as evidence of intent.

Talaga next cites to a Division 2 case, <u>State v. Wade</u>, for the proposition that "[u]se of prior acts to prove intent is generally based on propensity when the only commonality between the prior acts and the charged act is the defendant. To use prior acts for a non-propensity based theory, there must be some similarity among the facts of the acts themselves." 98 Wn. App. 328, 335, 989 P.2d 576 (1999).

Wade is distinguishable on several points. First, the prior bad acts introduced in Wade were true acts in the most traditional sense of the word: prior convictions for possession with intent, admitted to prove Wade's same intent in the new charge. Id. at 331-32. By referring to the need for "similarity among the facts of the acts themselves" and the facts of charged versus previous "offenses," it is clear that Division 2 envisioned criminal convictions and other such acts. Id. at 335-37. Second, unlike Talaga, Wade

had never put intent into play: "Wade offered no defense; nor did he claim mistake, inadvertent possession, or misidentification."

Id. at 336. Had he done so, the court implied, those defenses might have justified admission. Id.

Most critically, <u>Wade</u> limited its holding to prior acts embodying a certain mens rea, used to argue the same mens rea later: "Because the previous convictions are for the same type of crime, *including the requisite intent*, Wade was [alleged to be] predisposed to have that same intent on the current occasion." <u>Id.</u> at 337 (emphasis added). Here, it was Talaga's *actual and explicit declaration of intent* that was being used to establish his intent at the time of the crime, not a previous conviction from which one had to divine similar intent. It thus required no forbidden inferences or assumptions based on one's actions or character.

d. Any Error Was Harmless.

Even if this Court finds that the trial court abused its discretion in admitting the Facebook post, any error was harmless.

"It is well settled that the erroneous admission of evidence in violation of ER 404(b) is analyzed under the lesser standard for nonconstitutional error." <u>State v. Gresham</u>, 173 Wn.2d 405, 433, 269 P.3d 207 (2012). A nonconstitutional error is harmless if there

is no reasonable probability that the outcome of the trial would have been materially affected had the error not occurred. State v.

Cunningham, 93 Wn.2d 823, 831, 613 P.2d 1139 (1980).

Talaga states in a conclusory manner that it was reasonably probable that the introduction of the ER 404(b) evidence materially affected the verdict. In doing so, he disregards the substantial quantum of evidence against him and invokes only the State's closing argument for support. During argument, the prosecutor explicitly cautioned the jury against using the Facebook post as propensity evidence: "This is being offered and was admitted for one purpose and one purpose only: To show the defendant's intent." 10RP 10. This was a correct statement of both the law and the court's ruling. The prosecutor later quoted directly from the post and linked it to Talaga's intent that night, not his character or his propensity to commit crimes:

"Just leave me alone and we got no problems. Test me and you just might be on YouTube for the most epic knockout." And what happened that night? He was tested. He was tested, he said. He says Mr. Gooden said, "I will kick your ass." He was tested. We don't have the YouTube video of that, but we do have the video of the most epic knockout, all inflicted by the defendant. All inflicted on Mr. Gooden. All inflicted by -- without any other kind of provocation other than, "I will kick your ass."

11RP 11.

Talaga makes no mention of the significant volume of evidence against him. At trial, he did not contest any of the elements of assault in the first degree: he identified himself in the video and acknowledged that he meant every stomp and blow each time he struck Gooden in the video. 9RP 63. Nor does he argue on appeal that the State failed to satisfy the requisite degree of injury. He disputes only the lawfulness of his actions.

The evidence refuting self-defense was overwhelming.

Surveillance video showed in graphic detail how Talaga brutally stomped on Gooden's head four times and followed that up with seven punches, all while Gooden lay motionless on the ground. It depicts how Talaga lifted his right leg up so high past his left knee that he had to raise his arms to maintain balance before bringing it down on Gooden's head. It portrays him not just punching Gooden, but pulling back his right arm (and at one point both arms) all the way behind his body before swinging with full force at Gooden's head. Despite Talaga's claims to the contrary, Gooden never moved except when bouncing or shaking from the force of Talaga's blows. Even after the video showed a third party trying to pull Talaga away, he returned one more time to deliver a final blow.

two written requests to watch it during deliberations. Supp. CP ___ (sub 126-27, Jury Inquiry and Court's Response).

Talaga also disregards the photographs of Gooden's injuries taken minutes after the assault, which show the obvious and devastating results of Talaga's degree of violence. Talaga never alleged that Gooden ever touched him, wielded a weapon, or even threatened to use one; the only alleged threat of violence was Gooden's alleged statement that he would "kick [Talaga's] ass," made more than two minutes before the assault. According to Talaga's own testimony, Gooden never approached him again or initiated contact prior to the assault; it was Talaga who kept trying to re-engage despite the distance and number of people between them. The disparity between the degree of damage Talaga inflicted compared to his own total lack of injuries was extreme.

Testimony about the effects of Gooden's injuries also countered Talaga's self-defense claim. Dr. O'Keefe noted injuries consistent with severe force, recalling Gooden's inability to breathe on his own for almost a week and a half. 8RP 34-35, 39-47, 46-47, 55-56. The EMT noted his gasps for breath consistent with someone in serious distress minutes after the attack. 7RP 145-46. Gooden's rehabilitative physician testified that Gooden had been

injured so severely that he would have died without treatment, and would likely never recover normal brain function. 9RP 18-21.

Heather Sevaaetasi and Gooden confirmed that he could no longer use the bathroom by himself, retain memories properly, or cook or care for his children. 7RP 60-85.

Given such strong evidence of guilt, any error in admitting the Facebook post was harmless. This Court should deny Talaga's request for reversal.

D. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For all of the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully asks this Court to affirm Talaga's conviction.

DATED this <u>23</u> day of January, 2015.

Respectfully submitted,

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG
King County Prosecuting Attorney

Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Attorneys for Respondent

Office WSBA #91002